Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 5/21/2021 by Tayuan Ma, Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT NO. S267453

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

BETTY TANSAVATDI Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF RANCHO PALOS VERDES Defendant and Respondent,

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Four Case No. B293670 (Los Angeles Superior Court Nos. BC633651/BC652435)

* Daniel P. Barer [SBN 150812]
Anna L. Birenbaum [SNB 217588]
Pollak, Vida & Barer
11500 West Olympic Blvd.
Ste 400
Los Angeles, CA 90064
Tel: (310) 551-3400

Senate Bill No. 42	

1.0. Introduction

1.1. Issue Presented

Per this Court's order of April 28, 2021, the sole issue is: Can a public entity be held liable under Government Code section 830.8¹ for failure to warn of an allegedly dangerous design of public property that is subject to Government Code section 830.6² design immunity?

¹ "Neither a public entity nor a public employee is liable under this chapter for an injury caused by the failure to provide traffic or warning signals, signs, markings or devices described in the Vehicle Code. Nothing in this section exonerates a public entity or public employee from liability for injury proximately caused by such failure if a signal, sign, marking or device (other than one described in Section 830.4) was necessary to warn of a dangerous condition which endangered the safe movement of traffic and which would not be reasonably apparent to, and would not have been anticipated by, a person exercising due care." (Gov. Code, §830.8.)

² "Neither a public entity nor a public employee is liable under this chapter for an injury caused by the plan or design of a construction of, or an improvement to, public property where such plan or design has been approved in advance of the construction or improvement by the legislative body of the public entity or by some other body or employee exercising discretionary authority to give such approval or where such plan or design is prepared in conformity with standards previously so approved, if the trial or appellate court determines that there is any substantial evidence upon the basis of which (a) a reasonable public employee could have adopted the plan or design or the standards therefor or (b) a reasonable legislative body or other body or employee could have approved the plan or design or the standards therefor. Notwithstanding notice that constructed or

1.2. Summary of the Case

Plaintiff's decedent was riding his bicycle on a boulevard in the City of Rancho Palos Verdes. At an intersection, he tried to ride straight through a right-turn lane. He struck a tractortrailer turning right and was killed. His mother sued the City and other defendants. She alleged that the City was liable under Government Code section 835³ for a dangerous condition of public

³ "Except as provided by statute, a public entity is liable for injury caused by a dangerous condition of its property if the plaintiff establishes that the property was in a dangerous condition at the time of the injury, that the injury was proximately caused by the

improved public property may no longer be in conformity with a plan or design or a standard which reasonably could be approved by the legislative body or other body or employee, the immunity provided by this section shall continue for a reasonable period of time sufficient to permit the public entity to obtain funds for and carry out remedial work necessary to allow such public property to be in conformity with a plan or design approved by the legislative body of the public entity or other body or employee, or with a plan or design in conformity with a standard previously approved by such legislative body or other body or employee. In the event that the public entity is unable to remedy such public property because of practical impossibility or lack of sufficient funds, the immunity provided by this section shall remain so long as such public entity shall reasonably attempt to provide adequate warnings of the existence of the condition not conforming to the approved plan or design or to the approved standard. However, where a person fails to heed such warning or occupies public property despite such warning, such failure or occupation shall not in itself constitute an assumption of the risk of the danger indicated by the warning." (Gov. Code, § 830.6.)

property: the lack of a bicycle lane on the stretch of boulevard leading up to the intersection. She further alleged that the City was liable under Government Code section 830.8 for failing to warn of a hidden trap, the absence of the bicycle lane.

The City obtained summary judgment based on design immunity under Government Code section 830.6, because the absence of the bicycle lane was reflected in approved plans. The trial court's order did not expressly address the failure to warn theory.

In a published decision, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Four, affirmed that the City was entitled to design immunity. But it remanded the issue of whether the City was entitled to summary judgment of the failure to warn theory. The appellate court ruled that under *Cameron v. State of California* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 318, 326-327, the City's entitlement to design immunity does not necessarily preclude its liability for failure to warn. The appellate court expressly disagreed with

dangerous condition, that the dangerous condition created a reasonably foreseeable risk of the kind of injury which was incurred, and that either:

⁽a) A negligent or wrongful act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment created the dangerous condition; or

⁽b) The public entity had actual or constructive notice of the dangerous condition under Section 835.2 a sufficient time prior to the injury to have taken measures to protect against the dangerous condition." (Gov Code, § 835.)

Weinstein v. Department of Transportation (2006) 139 Cal.App.5th 52, 61's holding that entities entitled to design immunity for a dangerous condition may not be held liable for failure to warn of that dangerous condition.

1.3. Summary of Argument

Weinstein, supra, and Compton v. City of Santee (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 591, 600 correctly hold that "[i]t would be illogical to hold that a public entity immune from liability because the design was deemed reasonably adoptable, could then be held liable for failing to warn that the design was dangerous."

Government Code section 830.6 sets forth a broad immunity: it immunizes a public entity from liability for an allegedly dangerous condition set forth in an approved design. By its terms, it covers all statutory liability arising under the chapter of the Government Claims Act addressing dangerous conditions of public property. It sets forth no exception for failure to warn of that condition. Instead, as amended in 1979, section 830.6 contains its own *limited* exception for failure to warn: If changed physical circumstances render the property no longer in conformity with a plan or design that could be reasonably approved, and the entity cannot remedy the property, the immunity remains "so long as the public entity shall reasonably attempt to provide adequate warnings of the existence of the condition" That limited provision for loss of immunity is incompatible with liability for failure to warn.

Further, the failure to warn provision of Government Code section 830.8 is merely an exception to the limited immunity (for failure to provide warning signs) that section 830.8 provides. Nothing in that statute, or any other indicator of legislative intent, indicates that the legislature intended section 830.8's "concealed trap" provision to be an exception to section 830.6's broad immunity.

Interpreting a failure to warn exception into design immunity would also impose practical problems. A public entity that has met all of the requirements for summary judgment under section 830.6 (including the reasonableness element, decided by the court as an issue of law) would nevertheless be unable to obtain summary judgment for the immunized defect, so long as an issue of fact on failure to warn could be found. It is unclear how failure to provide warning signs can be considered separate from the design of a roadway, since in projects like the one at issue the signage is *part of* the design, as is the lack of signage. The impracticality and confusion of applying failure to warn to immunized designs is shown in this case, where the appellate court admitted it could not tell what kind of warning plaintiff claimed the City should have provided.

Further, the view that section 830.8 liability for failure to warn is not subject to section 830.6 immunity is based on a view of active versus passive negligence rooted in common law. This Court has clarified that public entity liability for dangerous property conditions must be based on Government Code section 835, rather than common law negligence. Section 830.6 design immunity applies to all liability under section 835 for constructed or improved property conditions that meet section 830.6's elements. Passive versus active negligence is irrelevant.

This Court's 1972 decision in *Cameron v. State, supra*, 7 Cal.3d 318 does not dictate otherwise. *Cameron*'s discussion of section 830.6's interaction with section 830.8 was arguably dictum. Further, it is outdated in light of both section 830.6's 1979 amendment and this Court's decisions emphasizing that public entity liability for dangerous conditions be based on statute, rather than on common law negligence principles. To the extent the Court disagrees, it should reconsider and overrule *Cameron*'s holding on the subject.

/// ///

///

2.0. Summary of Material Facts

2.1. The Accident

In 2016, decedent Jonathan⁴ Tansavatdi was riding his bicycle south, at approximately 30-45 miles per hour, on Hawthorne Boulevard in the City of Palos Verdes. (1AA:12, 232-233, 244-245.) He kept up with the flow of traffic. (1AA:233.)

Sections of Hawthorne Boulevard along which Jonathan rode had a bicycle lane. While riding on those sections, Jonathan did not use the lane. (1AA:235-237, 239-241, 253, 263-264.) Instead, approaching the accident location, he used the number 2 lane. (1AA:235-236, 263-265.)

There was no bicycle lane on Hawthorne Boulevard between Dupre Drive and Vallon Drive. (1AA:324-325.) There is an eight percent downgrade approaching Vallon Drive. (1AA:284.) Approaching Vallon, there is signage advising those approaching to slow down. (1AA:284.)

Jonathan attempted to ride straight through the rightturn-only lane on southbound Hawthorne Boulevard at the intersection with Vallon Drive. (1AA:246.) A motorist honked, trying to alert Jonathan of an imminent collision with a truck turning in front of him. (1AA:238, 249, 250.)

⁴ Because the decedent and the plaintiff share the same last name, the decedent will be referred to as Jonathan. No disrespect is intended.

Jonathan looked up, and wobbled, apparently trying to stop. He hit the side of the truck. (1AA:238.) The collision killed him. (1AA:12.)

2.2. The Absence of a Bicycle Lane on Hawthorne between Dupre and Vallon Is Shown on an Approved Plan

Plans for a 2009 City of Rancho Palos Verdes street resurfacing project included the resurfacing and restriping of Hawthorne Boulevard. (1AA:137.) The plans included a bicycle lane in some portions of Hawthorne Boulevard. The plans did not include a bicycle lane in the portion of the boulevard between Dupre Drive and Vallon Drive. (1AA:137-160⁵, 347-348.) The Director of Public Works for the City approved the plans on behalf of the City. (1AA:133, 137-160.) The City Council also approved the plans. (1AA:165, 176, 186, 188, 349.)

Between the date the plan was approved and implemented and the accident date, there were no changes in physical conditions in the area. (1AA:108, 161, 188, 349.)

⁵ The version of the plans in the Appellant's Appendix is reduced. Full-sized plans were lodged with the trial court, and with the Second District Court of Appeal. Photographs of plan details appear in the appellate decision, *Tansavatdi v. City of Rancho Palos Verdes* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d 512, 517].

In the decade before the accident, there had been only one accident in the area involving a bicycle. (1AA:336.)

2.3. Expert Evidence Regarding Warnings

In a declaration submitted in opposition to summary judgment, plaintiff Betty Tansavatdi's expert witness Edward Ruzak opined that the design of the roadway causes bicyclists to ride their bicycles at relatively high speeds, with an average of 35 miles per hour, due to the eight percent downgrade from Dupre Drive to Vallon Drive. (2AA:785.) Ruzak further opined that the absence of a bicycle lane between Dupre Drive and Vallon Drive amounted to a failure to warn of this condition:

"To be safe for its intended and reasonably foreseeable use, at a minimum, Hawthorne Boulevard between Dupre Drive and Vallon Drive must be striped with a continuous Class 2 bicycle lane. Without a bicycle lane, Hawthorne Boulevard fails to warn users of the roadway, including bicyclists, about the dangerous condition. This dangerous condition endangers the safe movement of vehicles and bicyclists and is not reasonably apparent to and would not have been anticipated by a bicyclist or motorist using Hawthorne Boulevard approaching Vallon Drive. A Class 2 bicycle lane, among other things, provides positive and direct guidance to both bicyclists and motorists as to the safe and intended use of the roadway, including redirecting bicyclists to areas of the roadway where they are least likely to be involved in a traffic collision." (2AA:786.)

Ruzak also opined that Class 2 bicycle lanes provide the motoring public warning of the likely presence of bicycles. (2AA:787.)

3.0. Procedural History

Jonathan's mother, Betty Tansavatdi (hereafter, "Tansavatdi"), sued the City and other defendants for Jonathan's death. (1AA:10-12.) She asserted a single cause of action: liability under Government Code section 835 for a dangerous condition of public property. (1AA:10, 12.) She alleged that the City created a dangerous condition. (1AA:12-15.) She further alleged that the City failed to provide signs, warnings, or other devices to warn of dangerous conditions that endangered the safe movement of traffic and that would not be reasonably apparent to or anticipated by a person exercising due care. (1AA:13-14.)

The City moved for summary judgment. The City argued that Government Code section 830.6's design immunity shielded it from liability for the absence of a bicycle lane. (1AA:27-29, 39-44.) The motion included an argument that under *Compton v*. *City of Santee* (1993) 12 Cal.App.4th 591, 600, the City's

entitlement to design immunity barred any liability for failure to warn under Government Code section 830.8. (1AA:44, fn. 2.)

The Los Angeles Superior Court granted the City summary judgment. (5AA:1536-1547.) The trial court ruled that Government Code section 830.6 was a complete defense to Tansavatdi's cause of action. (5AA:1546.) The trial court's order addressed Tansavatdi's failure to warn theory as a contention that the roadway design had become dangerous in practice. (5AA:1545.) The court ruled that the evidence supported on the failure to warn theory "does not demonstrate that there was any change in physical conditions from the time the plan was implemented to the date of decedent's accident." (5AA:1545.)

Tansavatdi appealed the judgment in the City's favor. (5AA:1580, 1592.)

On appeal, Tansavatdi contended design immunity did not apply. She alternatively argued that even if design immunity applied, her failure to warn theory should survive design immunity. (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d 512, 519].)

On January 29, 2021, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division 4, issued a published decision affirming in part and reversing in part the trial court's decision. (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 528].) The appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling that the City was entitled to the defense of design immunity. (*Id.* at p. 526.) But it ruled that "design immunity does not, as a matter of law, preclude liability under a theory of failure to warn of a dangerous condition." (*Ibid.*)

The appellate court held that in *Cameron v. State of California* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 318, 329, this Court "concluded that design immunity for a dangerous condition would not necessarily shield the state from liability for a failure to warn of the same dangerous condition." (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 527].) The appellate court expressly disagreed with the reasoning in *Weinstein v. Department of Transportation, supra*, 139 Cal.App.4th 52, 61, that an entity entitled to design immunity for a dangerous condition of its property may not be held liable for failure to warn of the dangerous condition. (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 527.)

"Thus," the appellate court concluded, "the city's entitlement to design immunity for its failure to include a bicycle lane at the site of Jonathan's accident does not, as a matter of law, necessarily preclude its liability under a theory of failure to warn. [Footnote.]" (*Tansavatdi*, *supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 527-528].)

The appellate court qualified its ruling on failure to warn with two footnotes.

First, when recounting Tansavatdi's theory that the absence of a bicycle lane at the accident area was a concealed trap, for which a warning was necessary, the court inserted a footnote: "It is unclear precisely what kind of warning appellant claims the city should have provided." (*Tansavatdi*, *supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 526 & fn. 17].)

Second, the court footnoted its ruling that design immunity does not necessarily preclude liability for failure to warn with this elaboration:

"Nothing in *Cameron*, however, suggests that design immunity cannot shield a failure to warn that is itself caused by a qualifying design under section 830.6. Indeed, as noted, the plaintiffs there alleged that the failure to warn 'was not the result of any design or plan which would confer immunity under section 830.6' (*Cameron, supra*, 7 Cal.3d at 327, 102 Cal.Rptr. 305, 497 P.2d 777.) Thus, appellant may not assert that the absence of a bicycle lane itself *constituted* the failure to warn. As discussed above, design immunity shields the city's decision not to include a bicycle lane at the site of the accident." (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 528 & fn. 18] [emphasis in original].)

The appellate court remanded the matter to the trial court to consider whether summary judgment is appropriate as to Tansavatdi's failure to warn theory. (*Tansavatdi, supra*, 60 Cal.App.5th 423 [274 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 528].)

This Court granted the City's petition for review.

4.0. Discussion

4.1. Compton v. City of Santee and Weinstein v. Department of Transportation Properly Interpret Design Immunity as Applying to Liability for Failure to Warn

Both *Weinstein*, *supra*, 139 Cal.App.4th 52, 61 and the case it follows—*Compton*, *supra*, 12 Cal.App.4th 591, 600—base their holdings on logic: "It would be illogical to hold that a public entity immune from liability because the design was deemed reasonably adoptable, could then be held liable for failing to warn that the design was dangerous."

An analysis of sections 830.6 and 830.8 confirms that logic. Section 830.6 is a broad immunity covering any injury from a dangerous condition caused by a construction of or improvement to public property to which the three elements of design immunity apply, unless the immunity is lost under the provisions of that statute. Section 830.8's failure to warn provision is a limited exception to a limited immunity (for failure to provide traffic regulatory or warning signs) that cannot in itself create liability without an underlying dangerous condition. (See *Pfeiffer v. County of San Joaquin* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 177, 184.) To hold that section 830.8's exception to one immunity trumps a different and broader immunity is illogical.

Further illustrating that illogic is the conflict between section 830.8's failure to warn provision and section 830.6's own provisions governing attempts to warn of a condition for which design immunity has been lost; and the conflict with the legislative intent that, if the first two elements of section 830.6 immunity are established as undisputed, the third element (substantial evidence of reasonableness) is determined by the court as an issue of law. Finally, the uncertainty expressed by the appellate court's qualifying footnotes in this case show how excepting failure to warn from design immunity is impractical and unworkable.

Logic therefore dictates that section 830.6 design immunity applies to section 830.8 failure to warn.

4.1.1. Rules of Statutory Construction: Government Code Immunity Prevails Over Statutory Liability unless Legislature Intended Otherwise

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