$\mathbf{S267453}$

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

BETTY TANSAVATDI,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CITY OF RANCHO PALOS VERDES,

Defendant and Petitioner.

Review of a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. B293670 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC633651 c/w BC652435

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

MARDIROSSIAN AKARAGIAN LLP

GARO MARDIROSSIAN (SBN 101812) *ARMEN AKARAGIAN (SBN 242303) ADAM FEIT (SBN 267965) 6311 Wilshire Boulevard Los Angeles, California 90048-5001 Telephone (323) 653-6311 garo@garolaw.com armen@garolaw.com

THE LINDE LAW FIRM

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The bicycle lane stretching four miles on Hawthorne Boulevard, between Highridge Park and Rancho Palos Verdes Drive, meanders up and down the picturesque hills of Rancho Palos Verdes with a view of the ocean, making it a popular spot for cyclists. As highlighted by an engineer hired by the City of Rancho Palos Verdes ("City"), this four-mile stretch of Hawthorne Boulevard is "heavily used by bicyclists," with "significant numbers of bicyclists using the roadway." (2 AA 636.) At some point prior to 2016, the City erased the bicycle lane between Vallon Drive and Dupre Drive, a distance of approximately a quarter-mile where this incident occurred. (2 AA 599, 787 [¶ 12].)¹

On a sunny afternoon in March 2016, Jonathan Tansavatdi ("Jonathan"), while cycling on Hawthorne Boulevard, entered this stretch of roadway which did not have a bike lane. Jonathan made it through most of this stretch of the roadway and approached the only intersection on Hawthorne Boulevard in this four-mile stretch that did not provide any guidance to a bicyclist on how to properly approach and navigate the intersection.

As Jonathan approached the intersection at Hawthorne and Vallon Drive, he intended to travel straight through the intersection to enter the bike lane, which restarted on the other

¹ In the trial court, the City claimed a bike lane never existed in this quarter-mile stretch of roadway and, thus, submitted no evidence establishing any deliberative process by the City in the installation or removal of the bike lane. Plaintiff provided photographic evidence establishing the presence of a bike lane in this stretch of roadway.

side of the intersection. Jonathan approached the intersection riding his bike as close to the curb as he could. At the same time, a very large semi-truck (Hawthorne is also a dedicated truck route, but the City had not provided any warnings to motorists or bicyclists that trucks also frequent the area) that was also traveling down Hawthorne made a right-hand turn directly in front of Jonathan, while attempting to turn onto Vallon Drive. Jonathan grabbed the brakes in an attempt to slow down but could not. He crashed into the side of the truck. (2 AA 732-733.) Jonathan, a young and successful software designer in his 20s, died from the impact. (5 AA 1537.)

Jonathan's mother, Betty Tansavatdi ("Plaintiff"), filed this lawsuit in September 2016 against the City and the owners/operators of the truck. (1 AA 10.) As against the City, Plaintiff alleged that the intersection of Hawthorne Boulevard and Vallon Drive was a dangerous condition of public property. (1 AA 12.)

Defendant filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, arguing the dangerous condition created by the ending of the bike lane was part of the 2009 plan and summary judgment could be entered because of design immunity under Government Code section 830.6. (1 AA 27-54.)

However, in making its motion, the City did not argue that the 2009 plan considered the placement of a warning for the dangerous condition, or that a warning was included in the plan, or even that a decision was made not to provide a warning. Rather, the City exclusively argued in a footnote that because

 $\mathbf{7}$

"the City has met the requisites of design immunity, no such warning was required." (1 AA 44, fn. 2.)

Plaintiff opposed the motion. (2 AA 412-438.) With respect to the issue of design immunity, Plaintiff argued that the City failed to demonstrate each of the three elements necessary to prove application of the affirmative defense as a matter of law. (2 AA 424-432.) Plaintiff noted that even if the defense applied, it did not preclude liability as the evidence revealed that in addition to creating the dangerous condition, the City was negligent in failing to warn users of the abrupt end to the bike lane on Hawthorne Boulevard, thereby creating a concealed trap. (2 AA 424-425.) The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of the City, finding that design immunity applied because the applicable plans showed bicycle lane markings in multiple segments of Hawthorne Boulevard. However, for the segment between Dupre and Vallon where the fatal accident occurred, the plans omitted a bicycle lane and, thus, there could be no liability based on the lack of bicycle lane in the approach to the intersection. (5 AA 1536.)

In granting summary judgment, the trial court did not address Plaintiff's failure to warn claim, although Plaintiff's pleadings and papers in opposition to the motion for summary judgment raised the issue of the City's passive negligence for its failure to warn and presented competent evidence of a concealed dangerous trap independent of the plans and the bicycle lane omission. (2 AA 425-426.) Among other things, because the slope of Hawthorne (with a steep 8% downgrade) causes bicyclists to

ride their bicycles at relatively high speeds and straight through the right turn at Vallon Drive, the likelihood of conflict and collision with a vehicle is increased. Moreover, this area is a designated route for semi-trucks. Given the curve, the slope, and the right turn only lane, under professional engineering standards, bicyclists traveling on Hawthorne between Dupre and Vallon need more advanced warning and positive guidance for the safe and intended operation of the roadway, especially considering the high volume of bicycle use, and the City's designation of this roadway as a designated truck route. The roadway, without warnings or guidance to the foreseeable class of bicyclists traveling at high speed, is a trap under established engineering principles. (See 2 AA 554, 561, 785-786 [Ruzak, ¶ 9], 787 [Ruzak, ¶ 13].)

The Court of Appeal agreed with this analysis, holding that even if design immunity protects the City from liability for the omission of the bicycle lane, the City may still be liable for failing to warn of a dangerous condition that exists independent of the plans. Following *Cameron, supra,* 7 Cal.3d 318, the Court of Appeal concluded that design immunity does not, as a matter of law, preclude liability under a theory of failure to warn of a dangerous condition.

The City disagrees, and the matter is now before this Court.

IV. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

A. <u>This Is A Pure Legal Issue</u>.

The issue presented in this appeal is purely a legal issue. The City did not raise any factual issue regarding the adequacy of any signage, or that its plan or design included warnings or signs for the dangerous condition created by the termination of the bike lane. In fact, the City only raised the issue of design immunity as it applies to a failure to warn in a footnote. (See 1 AA 44, fn. 2.) The City did not independently move for summary adjudication on the claim for failure to warn, nor did the court's order granting summary judgment extend beyond the design immunity analysis. (See 5 AA 1539-1547.)

In light of this sparse factual record, the Court of Appeal specifically held, "under *Cameron*, the city's entitlement to design immunity for its failure to include a bicycle lane at the site of Jonathan's accident does not, as a matter of law, necessarily preclude its liability under a theory of failure to warn. Because it appears the trial court did not consider appellant's failure to warn theory, we deem it advisable to allow the trial court to consider the failure to warn theory in the first instance." (*Tansavatdi v. City of Rancho Palos Verdes* (2021) 60 Cal.App.5th 423.)

The City's argument that this decision should be reversed because the "appellate court admitted it could not tell what kind of warning plaintiff claimed the City should have provided" is inaccurate. As noted by the Court of Appeal, these issues were

not fully addressed or considered below and the record thereon is incomplete.

The issue before this Court is exclusively whether the existence of a failure to warn claim is barred as a matter of law if design immunity applies to the underlying concealed dangerous condition. As set forth herein, it is not.

B. <u>This Court Already Resolved This Issue In</u> *Cameron*.

This Court already resolved the issue presented in this appeal through *Cameron, supra*, 7 Cal.3d 318. That decision should not be overruled.

Section 835 provides that a public entity may be liable under certain circumstances for injuries caused by a dangerous condition of its property. Specifically, "[s]ection 835 provides that a public entity may be held liable for such injuries 'if the plaintiff establishes that the property was in a dangerous condition at the time of the injury, that the injury was proximately caused by the dangerous condition, [and] that the dangerous condition created a reasonably foreseeable risk of the kind of injury which was incurred.' In addition, the plaintiff must establish that either: (a) '[a] negligent or wrongful act or omission of an employee of the public entity within the scope of his employment created the dangerous condition,' or (b) '[t]he public entity had . . . notice of the dangerous condition . . . a sufficient time prior to the injury to have taken measures to protect against the dangerous condition.' [Citation.]" (Cordova v. City of Los Angeles (2015) 61 Cal.4th 1099, 1105.)

Thus, as can be seen from this language, section 835 establishes two distinct alternate duties and grounds for liability. Under subdivision (a), the public entity owes what amounts to a general duty of care for dangerous conditions, becoming liable where the entity wrongfully or negligently creates a dangerous condition, i.e., engages in "active negligence." Under subdivision (b), the public entity owes an affirmative duty of care, becoming liable where it has notice of a dangerous condition but fails to take measure to "protect against" it, i.e., "passive negligence."

Section 830.6, design immunity, provides a defense to liability under section 835. Section 830.8, the trap exception, in turn provides an exception to the defense of design immunity. Sections 830.6 (design immunity) and 830.8 (trap exception) are part of the comprehensive legislation adopted in 1963, the Government Claims Act, which provides for direct liability on the part of the public entities for injuries caused by dangerous conditions. It is clear that section 830.6 (design immunity) limits liability for an injury caused by an improvement constructed according to an approved plan or design. But when adopting section 830.6, the legislature never intended for the public entity to be forever immune when the improvement, as used by the public, is dangerous, defective, or a trap for the unwary.

The legislature – in enacting both sections 830.6 and 830.8 simultaneously (and in subsequent amendment discussed further herein) – went out of its way to point out that design immunity is

not absolute.² The determination of whether to place warning signs is ordinarily part of any plan for highway improvement, and if section 830.6 confers immunity for plan and design forever and without regard to actual interaction of the public with the roadway design, the limitation on the immunity granted by section 830.8 for traps for the unwary would be pointless and misleading.

Through section 830.8 (trap exception), the legislature recognized that there can be liability for failure to place warning signs. The Court's decision in *Cameron, supra*, 7 Cal.3d 318, properly reconciled sections 830.6 and 830.8. The plaintiffs in *Cameron* sustained injury when they lost control of their car on a highway. Their complaint alleged that the injuries were caused by a dangerous condition on the highway, namely uneven banking, also referred to as "superelevation," on a curve in the road. (*Id.* at p. 323.) The state countered that the uneven banking "was part of a duly approved design or plan of the highway." (*Id.* at p. 324.) This Court reversed the trial court's entry of a judgment of nonsuit in favor of the state, finding that the state had failed to meet its burden of establishing all the elements of design immunity as a matter of law, given evidence that the superelevation did not appear in the plan. (*Id.* at p. 326.)

This Court then considered a second issue raised in the plaintiff's petition: "2. The settlement of the important question of law revolving about the scope and application of Government

² See, e.g., section 831 (weather conditions) and 831.8 (reservoirs, canals, conduits and drains). Both provide exceptions to immunity in limited circumstances.

Code Section 830.6 in light of the 'trap exception' of Government Code Section 830.8." (Plaintiff's Motion for Judicial Notice ["MJN"], Exhibit 3, Appellant's Petition in *Cameron*, at p. 2.) This is the very the same issue before this Court.

This Court then resolved that issue raised by Cameron in Cameron's favor and held that the state's failure to warn of a dangerous condition was an independent, separate concurring cause of the accident. (*Cameron, supra*, 7 Cal.3d at p. 329.) Such was because the driver entering the curve in question at a lawful speed and exercising due care was unable to perceive the uneven superelevation; that the superelevation would trap the driver into thinking the curve would continue to the left, while in fact it continues to the right; that the driver, too late to remedy the situation, would discover himself going too fast; and that warning signs, indicating the proper speed to negotiate the curve, if obeyed by the driver, would eliminate the dangerousness from the condition of uneven superelevation. (*Id.* at p. 327.)

The affirmative duty of care under section 835's subdivision (b) that gives rise to the duty to warn is wholly distinct from the standard duty of care under subdivision (a). (*Cameron, supra,* 7 Cal. 3d at p. 327.) Active and passive forms of negligence identified in section 835 are two independent theories of liability. Although "'[t]here may be two concurring, proximate causes of an accident . . . these separate, concurring causes may be produced by a single defendant, who is guilty of an affirmatively negligent act and of a passively negligent omission" (*Cameron, supra,* 7 Cal.3d at p. 328.)

Cameron then explained that the affirmative duty for passive negligence identified in subdivision (b) is always present whether or not the dangerous condition was a product of active negligence under subdivision (a). *Cameron, supra,* 7 Cal.3d at p. 328, held that "[r]egardless of the availability of (an) active negligence theory (creating a danger), plaintiffs (are) entitled to go before a jury on (a) passive negligence theory, i.e., an accident caused by the (entity's) failure to warn the public against (the) danger known to it but not apparent to a reasonably careful . . . user." (*Cameron, supra,* 7 Cal.3d at p. 328.)

When finding for Cameron, the Court distinguished design immunity (superelevation of the roadway) from negligence in failing to warn of a dangerous curve and posting of the safe speed. (*Cameron, supra*, 7 Cal. 3d 318.) The Court concluded that "if there had been proper warning of a dangerous curve and posting of the safe speed, the dangerous condition of the highway would have been effectually neutralized. The state's failure to so warn was an independent, separate concurring cause of the accident." (*Ibid*.)

Within the *Cameron* decision, the Court approvingly cited *Flournoy v. State of California* (1969) 275 Cal.App.2d 806. In *Flournoy*, the state constructed a bridge in such a way that water from an under passing stream caused moisture to condense on the bridge. (*Id.* at p. 808.) On cold days, the moisture would freeze on the bridge surface prior to formation of frost or ice on the approaching highway, thereby creating a dangerous icy condition. (*Ibid.*) The state, despite having notice thereof, failed to post any signs warning of the icy condition or indicating the need for reduced speed. The plaintiff's decedent, unaware of the icy condition, was driving at a normal rate of speed when she lost control of her car and was killed. (*Ibid.*) There were two concurring proximate causes of the accident: (1) the state's active negligence in building a bridge that was ice-prone and (2) the state's passive negligence in failing to post a warning about known icy danger and safe speed. (*Ibid.*)

The Court found that the court of appeal in *Flournoy* had properly harmonized design immunity (830.6) for the active negligence in the bridge design on the one hand, and the passive negligence (830.8) for failure to warn the public against a danger know to the entity but not apparent to a reasonably careful highway user, on the other hand.

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